Case No.: S236208

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

HELLER EHRMAN LLP,

Plaintiff and Petitioner,

vs.

DAVIS WRIGHT TREMAINE LLP,

Defendant and Respondent.

AND RELATED CASES

8.25(b)

SUPREME COURT
FILED

NOV 3 0 2016

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

AFTER A DECISION BY THE NINTH CIRCUIT COURT OF APPEAL CASE NOS. 14-14314/14-16315/14-16317/14-16318

APPEAL FROM THE U.S. DISTRICT COURT NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA SAN FRANCISCO DIVISION, CASE NOS. 14-01236/14-01237/14-01238/14-01239

OPENING BRIEF

*CHRISTOPHER D. SULLIVAN (CA State Bar No. 148083) MATTHEW S. SEPUYA (CA State Bar No. 287947) DIAMOND McCARTHY LLP 150 California Street, Suite 2200 San Francisco, CA 94111

QUESTION PRESENTED

Under California law, what interest, if any, does a dissolved law firm have in legal matters that are in progress but not completed at the time the law firm is dissolved, when the dissolved law firm had been retained to handle the matters on an hourly basis?

(Order Granting Request to Decide Question of State Law, Aug. 31,

(Order Granting Request to Decide Question of State Law, Aug. 31, 2016.)

INTRODUCTION

The California Uniform Partnership Act of 1994¹ (generally referred to as "RUPA"), in which the Legislature built upon over one hundred years of case precedent and California's prior version of the uniform partnership act (known as "UPA"), governs the answer to this question. A dissolved law firm is entitled to recover for the benefit of its creditors and its partners the profits generated by any partners of the dissolved firm from completing hourly fee matters that were in progress but not completed when the firm dissolved, less reasonable compensation and an allocation of overhead.

California Corporations Code section 16404(b)(1) obligates each partner of a dissolving partnership "[t]o account to the partnership and hold as trustee for it any property, profit, or benefit derived by the partner in the conduct or winding up of the partnership business . . . " No partner is entitled to any compensation for completing partnership business, except for reasonable compensation for services rendered in winding up the business of a partnership. As the Court of Appeals have held repeatedly in interpreting the UPA's nearly identical provisions, the duty to account requires a partner to

¹ California Corp. Code §§ 16100 – 16692.

account for the "attorneys' fees received on cases in progress upon dissolution of a law partnership." (E.g., *Jewel v. Boxer* (1984) 156 Cal.App.3d 171, 174; *Rothman v. Dolin* (1993) 20 Cal.App.4th 755.)

This principle, known as the "Unfinished Business Rule," existed as a matter of common law well before the UPA was enacted in 1929. (*Denver v. Roane* (1878) 99 U.S. 359; *Osment v. McElrath* (1886) 68 Cal. 466; *Little v. Caldwell* (1894) 101 Cal. 553.)

The Unfinished Business Rule recognizes that cases and matters brought into a law firm are the products of the efforts of the partnership as a whole and is built on long-established and basic partnership principles. The duty to account for the profits from pending but uncompleted legal matters at the date of dissolution could have been available for the estate of Heller Ehrman LLP ("Heller") to collect on behalf of its creditors (including its former employees, associates, and retired partners). (See Cal. Corp. Code, § 16807(a)) (specifying that in the winding up of a partnership's business, available assets should be distributed first to the partnership's creditors, then to partners). But the partners of Heller, as part of the plan of dissolution, included a "Jewel Waiver" that purported to "waive" the firm's right to collect the profits from unfinished hourly business matters.

Heller filed the four related cases at issue challenging the *Jewel* Waiver as a fraudulent transfer under applicable federal bankruptcy laws. Heller contends that the four Law Firm Respondents here are liable as subsequent transferees to account for the profits earned from Heller's hourly unfinished business matters. Heller's motion for summary adjudication on liability issues was granted by the

bankruptcy court. The cases were later withdrawn to the district court for trial. The district court first reviewed the bankruptcy court's ruling granting summary judgment and reversed, which gave rise to the Ninth Circuit appeal and its order certifying the question of state law to this Court. (Heller Ehrman LLP v. Davis Wright & Tremaine LLP (In re Heller Ehrman LLP) (2016) 830 F.3d 964.)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. Heller – The Law Firm.

Founded in 1890, Heller was a prominent law firm that prior to its dissolution was a global law firm of more than 700 attorneys. Appellant's Excerpt of Record ("ER") 6.² Heller was organized as a limited liability partnership as stated in its Partnership Agreement dated January 1, 1994 (the "Partnership Agreement"). ER 129. The Partnership Agreement provided that "[a]ll clients for whom any Partner or Member provides legal services shall be clients of the Partnership unless the Policy Committee determines otherwise." ER 130, ¶ 4.5. The Partnership Agreement did not address the allocation of profits from unfinished business completed after dissolution.

Heller had a two-tiered structure, with professional corporations ("Heller PCs") serving as each of Heller's partners. ER 132-133; 134, 135, 136. Each of the Heller PCs had no other operations besides its activities with the Partnership. ER 139-140. The PCs, in turn,

² Heller's citations are to the Appellant's Excerpts of Record filed in the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals in *Heller Ehrman LLP v. Davis Wright Tremaine LLP*, Ninth Circuit Case No. 14-14314, unless otherwise indicated when Heller is referencing the Excerpts of Record in one of the related cases.

employed attorneys who were also shareholders of the Heller PCs ("Shareholders"). ER 142. These Shareholders controlled and directed Heller through annual shareholder votes and various management committees. ER 140-141.

By the summer of 2008, Heller was deep in debt. It owed millions to its creditors. On August 31, 2008, Heller had approximately \$5 million in available cash and bank debt of over \$54 million. ER 143. On September 19, 2008, Heller's bank lenders declared a default. ER 144-145. The banks seized control of all available cash and refused to allow Heller to make any further payments (on debts or otherwise) without the banks' permission. ER 148-149. Going forward, the lenders were in control of what payments Heller was allowed to make. ER 148-150. On September 26, 2008, the banks refused Heller's request to "pay debts as they come due." ER 151-152. Heller's Shareholders then voted to approve a dissolution plan ("Dissolution Plan"). ER 153-154.

The Dissolution Plan included a waiver of Heller's rights to the profits earned from the completion of its pending matters. Specifically, Article VI.F of the Dissolution Plan provided:

[T]he Firm-in-Dissolution [Heller] will waive any rights and claims under the doctrine of *Jewel v. Boxer*, 156 Cal.App.3d 171 (1984)[,] to seek payment of legal fees generated after the departure date of any lawyer or group of lawyers with respect to non-contingency/non-success fee matters only

ER 155. At the time of the Jewel Waiver, Heller was insolvent and unable to pay its debts as they came due. Heller would soon be forced

to fire virtually all its employees without providing proper notice. ER 157-158. Heller did not receive any consideration or payment of any kind from either the Shareholders or their new firms in exchange for the Jewel Waiver.

II. Heller – Relevant Proceedings Below.

Three months after dissolution, Heller filed a voluntary petition for relief under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code. On September 1, 2010, the Joint Plan of Liquidation of Heller Ehrman LLP became effective. Michael Burkart was appointed Plan Administrator with responsibility for pursuing litigation claims to recover assets for the benefit of Heller's creditors.

In December of 2010, Heller filed multiple adversary proceedings³ seeking to avoid the *Jewel* Waiver as a fraudulent transfer under applicable federal bankruptcy law. Heller sought to recover from the law firms that, as subsequent transferees, received the profits collected on Heller's unfinished business.⁴ ER 159-296.

An adversary action is a lawsuit filed separate from, but related to, the underlying bankruptcy case. The procedures governing adversary actions are outlined in Rules 7001 – 7087 of the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure.

Heller did not sue the individual Shareholders who were the initial transferees and the first beneficiaries of the *Jewel* Waiver. Instead, it sued the law firms that received the unfinished business from the former Shareholders free from the duty to account for any unfinished business profits as subsequent transferees (11 U.S.C. § 550(a)(2)) or as the entity "for whose benefit the transfer was made" (11 U.S.C. § 550(a)(1)). ER 179, at ¶ 99. The federal law issue of whether the law firms are liable as subsequent transferees under federal bankruptcy law is not before this Court.

Heller's adversary actions followed a prior bankruptcy court decision. (Greenspan v. Brobeck Phleger & Harrison LLP (In re Brobeck, Phleger & Harrison LLP) (Bankr.N.D.Cal. 2009) 408 B.R. 318 ["Brobeck"].) In Brobeck, the court recognized that California courts follow "[t]he unfinished business rule [which] provides that, in the absence of an agreement to the contrary, partners have a duty to account to the dissolved firm and their former partners for profits they earn on the dissolved firm's 'unfinished business,' after deducting for overhead and reasonable compensation." (408 B.R. at 326 [footnote omitted].) The Brobeck court also held that "the Jewel Waiver transferred that interest to the Brobeck former partners." (Id. at 338.)

The Heller adversary proceedings have a developed procedural history.

Heller I (MTD): Sixteen law firm defendants filed motions to dismiss⁵ arguing, among other things, that (1) the Jewel Waiver did not fraudulently transfer any property; (2) the Shareholders in the professional corporations that were the partners of Heller were not subject to RUPA; and (3) California Rules of Professional Conduct or public policy preclude applying the Unfinished Business Rule to law firm partnerships. The Bankruptcy Court held a consolidated hearing and issued a uniform decision, ER 106, n.3., as it also did in subsequent proceedings. In a comprehensive memorandum decision, the Bankruptcy Court rejected each of the law firm defendants'

⁵ Heller was able to settle or resolve many of the smaller matters relatively soon after they were filed. (See *In re Heller Ehrman LLP*, Case No. 08-32514 (Bankruptcy Court, Northern District of California), Docket No. 2123 [Motion to Approve Settlement With Sidley & Austin LLP].)

arguments. It held that valid claims were pled that the *Jewel* Waiver constituted a "transfer" of "an interest in the debtor in property" under 11 U.S.C. section 548(a)(1)(B). See ER 115-26, available at (*Heller Ehrman LLP v. Arnold & Porter LLP (In re Heller Ehrman LLP)*, (Bankr. N.D.Cal., Apr. 22, 2011, Adv. No. 10-3023DM) [2011 WL 1539796, at *5]). The Bankruptcy Court, relying on Heller's governing documents and following established California law, also held that the Shareholders of Heller had the fiduciary duties of partners in the Heller partnership. ER 108-11.

Extensive discovery then was completed. The discovery established that each of the Law Firm Respondents received millions of dollars in gross legal fees from completing Heller's unfinished business matters through December of 2011 alone. ER 384-420; 421; 427.6 Moreover, the Law Firm Respondents received substantial fees resulting in millions of dollars more in *new business* from the Heller clients brought over to it by the Heller Shareholders.⁷ The Law Firm Respondents benefited from gaining many new clients, including

⁶ See also, for Respondent Jones Day ("JD"), JD ER at 287-289; 291; 294-296; 323-325, in Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals Case No. 14-16315; for Respondent Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP ("Orrick"), Orrick ER 413-414; 415-424; 425-429; 430-431, in Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals Case No. 14-16318; for Respondent Foley & Lardner LLP ("FL"), FL ER at ER 350-55; 360-61; 362; 364; 365, in Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals Case No. 14-16317. The actual information cited to is in the Excerpts of Record that were filed under seal in each of the cases and thus is not provided in this brief.

⁷ Heller has not contended that it has an interest in new business under the Unfinished Business Rule.

potentially lucrative long-term corporate client relationships. See ER 384-420; 421-82. 297-310; 311-315; 316-320.

The Law Firm Respondents obviously hoped for a substantial profit from bringing over lateral shareholders. ER 424-26.

The Law Firm Respondents enjoyed high profit margin percentages on the gross legal fees it received during the relevant time period. The total fees received from Heller's unfinished business matters were just a small percentage of each of the Law Firm Respondents' total revenue. Returning some of the substantial profits received from Heller's unfinished business, while deducting proper overhead costs to complete the business and reasonable compensation, will help diminish the losses for Heller's creditors while only nominally affecting the Law Firm Respondents overall profitability.

By the fall of 2011, Heller was able to settle its *Jewel* claims with most of the law firm defendants. Heller collected in excess of \$8 million for the creditors of Heller. (See *In re Heller Ehrman LLP*, Case No. 08-32514 (Bankruptcy Court, Northern District of California), Docket No. 2640, at page 2 [Motion to Approve Settlement With Sheppard Mullin Richter & Hampton LLP and Goodwin Procter LLP]; see also Docket No. 2581, at page 2 [Motion to Approve Settlement With Arnold & Porter LLP, *et al.*].)

⁸ Jones Day enjoyed a 44% profit margin on the gross legal fees it received during the relevant time period. JD ER 217-222. Orrick enjoyed a 32% profit margin on the gross legal fees it received during the relevant time period. Orrick ER 332-337, 434-435. DWT and FL also enjoyed high profit margins on the gross legal fees it received during the relevant time period. DWT ER 428; FL ER 366, 356-57.

Heller II (MSJ): In June 2012, in the four remaining adversary proceedings cases subject to these appeals, Heller filed motions for summary adjudication as to all liability issues on the constructive fraudulent transfer claim. ER 50. The Bankruptcy Court issued a Memorandum Decision granting Heller's motions finding, as a matter of undisputed fact, Heller established the three elements to prove a constructive fraudulent transfer and the absence of an essential element of the law firms' "safe harbor" defense to such actions. See ER 48-86, available at (Heller Ehrman LLP v. Jones Day (In re Heller Ehrman LLP), (Bankr. N.D.Cal., Mar. 11, 2013, Adv. No. 10-3221DM) [2013 WL 951706.])

Heller III (Damages): In the summer of 2013, Heller and the law firms filed cross-motions for summary judgment related to damages, namely the amount of profits derived from the gross unfinished business legal fees collected by the law firms. On January 28, 2014, the Bankruptcy Court denied the parties' summary judgment motions, holding that questions of fact exist as to the amount of "reasonable compensation" (Cal. Corp. Code § 16401(h)), and the necessary overhead expenses (per Jewel) to be deducted by from the gross legal fees received. ER 18-41, available at (Heller Ehrman LLP v. Jones Day (In re Heller Ehrman LLP), (Bankr. N.D.Cal., Jan. 28, 2014, Adv. No. 10-3221DM) [2014 WL

There is an affirmative defense available to defendants in constructive fraudulent transfer actions who can establish that the transfer was received in good faith, without knowledge of the voidability of the transfer, and for value. (See 11 U.S.C. §550(b)).

323068.])¹⁰ The Bankruptcy Court then certified the four remaining cases were ready for jury and bench trials.

Heller IV (District Court): After the District Court entered an order withdrawing the reference, it decided to conduct a "de novo review" of the summary adjudication decision. The parties were ordered to submit simultaneous briefs addressing "the Bankruptcy Court's determination of the Jewel issue." ER 316-320. On June 5, 2014, the District Court held a consolidated hearing on "the Jewel issue." Six days later it issued a summary judgment decision¹¹ that, under California law, Heller had no property interest in hourly fee matters pending at the time of the firm's dissolution. See ER 3-15, published at (Heller Ehrman LLP v. Davis, Wright, Tremaine, LLP (In re Heller Ehrman LLP) (Bankr. N.D.Cal., June 11, 2014, No. C14-01236 CRB) [2014 WL 2609743.])

Heller V (Ninth Circuit): After full briefing and argument, the Ninth Circuit issued its order certifying a question of state law to this Court. (Heller Ehrman LLP v. Davis Wright & Tremaine LLP (In re Heller Ehrman LLP) (2016) 830 F.3d 964.) The Ninth Circuit reviewed the development of the Unfinished Business Rule in California. (Id. at 966-68.) The Ninth Circuit then considered the impact of California's passage of RUPA and its provision allowing for "reasonable compensation" for partners' services rendered in winding up a dissolving partnership. (Id. at 968-69.) The Ninth Circuit found

The bankruptcy court had previously discussed the calculation of damages in *Brobeck*, (408 B.R. at 326-27 & n. 4.)

Identical memorandum decisions were issued in each case. ER 3.

that no published California case had considered if the passage of RUPA changed the Unfinished Business Rule. (*Id.* at 969.) It certified to this Court the question regarding a law firm's interest in hourly fee matters pending at the time of a law firm's dissolution, since the state law rights of a dissolved firm to an accounting for the profits from the unfinished hourly business matters will determine if there is a property interest that can be the subject of a fraudulent transfer. (*Id.*)

III. THE RIGHTS, DUTIES AND PROPERTY OF A CALIFORNIA PARTNERSHIP AND ITS PARTNERS IN DISSOLUTION AND WINDING UP OF THE PARTNERSHIP ARE GOVERNED BY CORPORATIONS CODE §§ 16100-16962.

Answering the question before this Court turns on the construction of California's Uniform Partnership Act, as revised (and renumbered) by a set of amendments that became effective in 1999, known as the California Uniform Partnership Act of 1994 ("RUPA"). (Cal. Corp. Code §§ 16100-16962.)¹² Many principles in the UPA and RUPA derive from the longstanding common law of partnership. To the extent the UPA and RUPA are consistent with existing common law at the date of adoption or amendment, the UPA and RUPA are construed to incorporate common law principles, not to

¹² From 1929 to 1949 the Uniform Partnership Act was codified in the California Civil Code. From 1949 to 1996, the Uniform Partnership Act was codified at Corporations Code §§ 15001 et seq. RUPA (Corporations Code §§ 16100-16962) now governs all California general partnerships, including those formed before RUPA's January 1, 1997 effective date. (Cal. Corp. Code § 16111.)

supplant them. (See *Enea v. Superior Court* (2005) 132 Cal.App.4th 1559, 1564–65.)

Under the UPA and RUPA, "a partnership continues after dissolution." (Cal. Corp. Code § 16802(a).) The partnership is not terminated until the winding up of its business is completed. The partners of a firm in dissolution continue as partners owing fiduciary duties to the partnership in dissolution until all of its business is completed and the partnership is wound up completely. (See Cal. Corp. Code §16802(a); see also *In re Wilshire Courtyard* (9th Cir. 2013) 729 F.3d 1279, 1293 n.12 [former partners of partnership remained partners under Cal. Corp. Code §16802 because the partnership had not yet wound up its business]; Alan R. Bromberg & Larry E. Ribstein, *Bromberg and Ribstein on Partnership* § 7.01(b) at 7:9-7:12 (2011).)

The object of a partnership winding up process is to ensure that the partnership "discharge[s] its obligations to creditors" (and only after that distributes assets to partners). (Cal. Corp. Code § 16807.) In pursuit of this objective, each partner of a dissolving partnership is required "[t]o account to the partnership and hold as trustee for it any property, profit, or benefit derived by the partner in the conduct and winding up of the partnership business or derived from a use by the partner of partnership property or information, including the appropriation of a partnership opportunity." (Cal. Corp. Code § 16404(b)(1).)

The partnership has a cause of action against a partner who breaches this duty or any other duty connected with winding up. (Cal. Corp. Code § 16405.)

It is undisputed that the vote of Heller's partners on September 26, 2008, was a vote to dissolve the Heller law firm. The vote put Heller into a statutory winding up mode under section 16802(a). Heller's financial interest in business that was acquired by the firm, including business that was not complete at dissolution, is codified in Corporations Code section 16404(b)(1), reflecting case law that extends back to many years before the UPA and RUPA were adopted, which incorporated and solidified this Unfinished Business Rule.

IV. THE PRIMARY GOAL OF WINDING UP IS FOR A PARTNERSHIP TO "DISCHARGE ITS OBLIGATIONS TO CREDITORS" USING ALL OF THE PARTNERSHIP'S AVAILABLE ASSETS.

Corporations Code section 16807(a) mandates that a partnership winding up is to be completed as follows:

16807. (a) In winding up a partnership's business, the assets of the partnership, including the contributions of the partners required by this section, shall be applied to discharge its obligations to creditors, including, to the extent permitted by law, partners who are creditors. Any surplus shall be applied to pay in cash the net amount distributable to partners in accordance with their right to distributions under subdivision (b).

(Cal. Corps. Code § 16807(a).)¹³

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