IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SUPREME COURT FILED

HELLER EHRMAN LLP,

FEB - 2 2017

Plaintiff and Petitioner,

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

v.

Deputy

DAVIS WRIGHT TREMAINE LLP & FOLEY & LARDNER LLP

Defendants and Respondents.

AND RELATED CASES

Question Certified by the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit Case Nos. 14-16314 & 14-16317

ANSWER BRIEF OF DAVIS WRIGHT TREMAINE LLP AND FOLEY & LARDNER LLP

STEVEN A. HIRSCH, #171825 shirsch@kvn.com STEVEN P. RAGLAND, #221076 sragland@kvn.com KEKER, VAN NEST & PETERS LLP 633 Battery Street San Francisco, CA 94111-1809 Telephone: 415 391 5400 Fascimile: 415 397 7188

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

II. DISCUSSION

A. The certified question must be analyzed in light of the issues "truly contested on a factual record" in the bankruptcy case pending in the Ninth Circuit.

Nearly two decades ago, in its first determination of a question certified under California Rule of Court 8.548, this Court upheld the constitutionality of the referral procedure while explaining that, in order to avoid an improper advisory opinion, the Court's decision must do two things: (1) "address only issues that are truly contested by the parties on a factual record" in the case pending in the referring court; and (2) dispose of those issues and be res judicata between the parties.

Los Angeles Alliance for Survival v. City of Los Angeles, 22 Cal. 4th 352, 362 (2000) [hereinafter Alliance].

In this case, these jurisdictional and prudential requirements⁴ help to focus the certified question on the issue "truly contested on a factual record" in the case pending in the Ninth Circuit—namely,

³ Alternatively, the "reasonable compensation" granted to former partners for winding up the dissolved law firm's business should be held as a matter of law to be equal to the negotiated hourly fee that the new firm is charging for performing that work. *See* Part II.D., below.

⁴ "The rendering of advisory opinions falls within neither the functions nor the jurisdiction of this court." Salazar v. Eastin, 9 Cal. 4th 836, 860 (1995).

whether a dissolved partnership's waiver of its right to seek an accounting of post-dissolution profits from hourly cases can be a constructively fraudulent transfer under federal bankruptcy law.

Below, we provide the requisite background concerning that issue.

- 1. In Jewel v. Boxer, 156 Cal. App. 3d 171 (1984), the California Court of Appeal applied the then-existing Uniform Partnership Act ("UPA") to hold as follows: Post-dissolution profits⁵ generated by contingent-fee matters⁶ pending at a law firm when it dissolved must be shared among the partners as though the firm had not dissolved—that is, according to each partners' percentage interest in the dissolved partnership—regardless of who actually completed that work. See id. at 176 & n.2, 179–81 & n.4; In the Matter of Heller Ehrman LLP, 830 F.3d 964, 969 (9th Cir. 2016) [hereinafter Heller].
- 2. Under this "Jewel doctrine," former law partners can sue each other for an accounting of the post-dissolution profits generated by the dissolved firm's contingent matters. See Jewel, 156 Cal. App. 3d at

⁵ The *Jewel* court referred to those profits as "net post-dissolution income," meaning gross income less "reimbursement for reasonable overhead expenses (*excluding partners*' salaries)." 156 Cal. App. 3d at 180; see also id. at 180 n.6. The italicized phrase reflected the UPA's ban on extra compensation for partners engaged in winding up the business of a dissolved partnership.

⁶ See Part II.B.2.b.(i), below (discussing Jewel's focus on contingent cases).

- 181. Alternatively, partnerships may opt out of Jewel's default rule contractually (and, indeed, were encouraged to do so by the Jewel court itself). See id. at 180–81. Under one common type of opt-out agreement, called a "Jewel waiver," partners give up their rights to assert post-dissolution Jewel claims against each other.
- 3. The fact that Jewel was decided under the UPA is significant because, in 1996, California adopted the Revised Uniform Partnership Act ("RUPA"), which changed the rules on which the Jewel decision was premised. See Heller, 830 F.3d at 967 n.1. Under the UPA (and before that, common law), a partner was not allowed any extra compensation for winding up her law firm's unfinished business after it dissolved. See former CAL. CORP. CODE § 15018(f) (1995). The Jewel

⁷ As used in *Jewel*, "extra compensation" meant "receipt by a former partner of the dissolved partnership of an amount of compensation which [was] greater than would have been received as the former partner's share of the dissolved partnership." *Jewel*, 156 Cal. App. 3d at 176 n.2.

⁸ Former UPA § 15018(f) stated that "[n]o partner is entitled to remuneration for acting in the partnership business, except that a surviving partner is entitled to reasonable compensation for his or her services in winding up the partnership affairs." Thus, "the Uniform Partnership Act unequivocally prohibit[ed] extra compensation for post-dissolution services, with a single exception for surviving partners." Jewel, 156 Cal. App. 3d at 176–77. RUPA § 16401(h), by contrast, states that "[a] partner is not entitled to remuneration for services performed for the partnership, except for reasonable compensation for services rendered in winding up the business of the partnership."

court therefore felt compelled to reject an award of reasonable compensation to the winding-up partners. Under the RUPA, however, reasonable compensation became available, which "suggests that former partners now have a claim to some or all of their hourly rate for working on unfinished business." *Heller*, 830 F.3d at 969 (citing RUPA § 16401(h)). The RUPA also permitted a former partner, for the first time, to compete with the dissolved firm while it is winding up its affairs. See RUPA § 16404(b)(3); RUPA section 404, cmt. 2. There is no dispute that RUPA governs here. See Heller's Opening Brief ("Heller Br.") at 1.

⁹ As used here, a number following the term "RUPA §" refers to a section of the California Corporations Code. "RUPA section" refers to a comment in the 1997 final draft of the RUPA by the National Conference of Commissioners on Uniform State Laws. See http://www.uniformlaws.org/shared/docs/partnership/upa_final_97.pdf.

¹⁰ Under the RUPA, a dissolved partnership continues in existence until the business is wound up. Often only in retrospect is it possible to determine when the partnership ceased to exist. *See* ALLAN DONN, ROBERT W. HILLMAN & DONALD J. WEIDNER, REV. UNIFORM PARTNERSHIP ACT, authors' cmt. on § 802 (2016–2017 ed.).

¹¹ Section 16404(b)(3) states that "[a] partner's duty of loyalty to the partnership and the other partners includes [t]o refrain from competing with the partnership in the conduct of the partnership business before the dissolution of the partnership." Comment 2 explains that "the duty not to compete applies only to the 'conduct' of the partnership business; it does not extend to winding up the business, as do the other loyalty rules. Thus, a partner is free to compete immediately upon an event of dissolution . . . unless the partnership agreement otherwise provides."

- 3. Heller dissolved in 2008 and became unable to serve any clients. Indeed, it effectively fired its clients. Those clients hired other law firms to complete hourly matters that remained unfinished at Heller when it dissolved ("the hourly matters"). Some of those firms hired former Heller shareholders or accepted them into their partnerships. Two such firms were defendants DWT and Foley. See Heller, 830 F.3d at 971–72.
- 4. As part of Heller's written dissolution plan, its shareholders entered into a Jewel waiver in which Heller gave up "any rights and claims under [Jewel] to seek payment of legal fees generated after the departure date of any lawyer . . . with respect to non-contingency/non-success fee matters only"12 Heller, 830 F.3d at 871. Thus, the Heller Jewel waiver applied only to the hourly matters pending at Heller when it dissolved—not to pending contingent-fee matters.
- 5. Two months after Heller closed its doors and DWT and Foley had hired former Heller shareholders, Heller sought federal bankruptcy protection under Chapter 11. Ten months after that, Heller's trustee filed an adversary proceeding alleging that the *Jewel* waiver as to hourly matters had been a constructively fraudulent

¹² ER155.

transfer of a valuable property interest from the insolvent Heller firm to its departing shareholders, and thence to other law firms that those shareholders later joined. These other law firms allegedly accepted the hourly matters as "subsequent transferees" under 11 U.S.C. § 550(a)(2). See Heller, 830 F.3d at 971. Heller named as defendants 49 law firms that had hired those partners, including DWT and Foley.

- 6. Heller often has engaged in strategic obfuscation concerning the specific nature of the fraudulently transferred property interest, which it has variously characterized as (a) the hourly matters themselves, (b) the stream of income flowing from those matters, or (c) the right to sue former shareholders and their new firms for an accounting of that income. Here, Heller's argument assumes that it possesses some direct ownership interest in the hourly matters themselves, which it characterizes as "partnership business" or "partnership property" within the meaning of RUPA § 16404(b)(1). See Part II.B.2.a., below.
- 7. Heller's adversary proceeding invokes the constructively fraudulent transfer statute, 11 U.S.C. § 548(a)(1)(B), which provides that the bankruptcy trustee may avoid any "transfer" of a debtor's "property" interest if (*inter alia*) the transfer occurred two years or less before the debtor filed its bankruptcy petition and the debtor received

less than a "reasonably equivalent value" in exchange. The U.S. Supreme Court has interpreted the unusual phrase "reasonably equivalent value" in § 548 to mean "a price that approximated [the property's] worth at the time of sale" (meaning, in this context, at the time of the *Jewel* waiver that effectuated the purported "transfer"). BFP v. Resolution Trust Corp., 511 U.S. 531, 538–39 (1994) [hereinafter BFP]. Section 548(a)(1)(B) thus requires courts to compare the property's approximate "actual value at the time of the sale" with the value that the debtor received from that sale. The "property" interest itself is one defined by state law. See Heller, 830 F.3d at 969-70. Accordingly, there can be no constructively fraudulent transfer unless the state-defined property interest is susceptible to a non-speculative 14 estimate of its "actual value" at the time of transfer—meaning, again, at the time of the *Jewel* waiver. 15

¹³ BFP, 511 U.S. at 546; see also id. at 539; In re Crystal, 513 B.R. 413, 419 (Bankr. D. Idaho 2014).

¹⁴ Cf. Julian Petroleum Corp. v. Courtney Petroleum Co., 22 F.2d 360, 362 (9th Cir. 1927) (noting that, "as a general rule, remote, uncertain, and speculative damages are not recoverable"); see also Piscitelli v. Friedenberg, 87 Cal. App. 4th 953, 989 (2001).

¹⁵ California's Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act ("UFTA"), also invoked by Heller, likewise states that a transfer made by a debtor is fraudulent as to a creditor if the debtor made the transfer without receiving a "reasonably equivalent value" in exchange for the transfer. CAL. CIV. CODE § 3439.04(a)(2). Like its federal counterpart, the UFTA

8. Heller claims that the fraudulently transferred property interest was created by California partnership law, which allegedly grants a dissolved law firm a legally enforceable right to siphon away the profits generated by hourly matters on which the dissolved firm is doing no work, for as long as it takes *other* law firms and lawyers, chosen by the client, to complete those matters.

This background makes it possible to approach the certified question with due regard for the context in which it arose and in which it must be decided if the resulting opinion is to be non-advisory. The question is:

Under California law, what interest, if any, does a dissolved law firm have in legal matters that are in progress but not completed at the time the law firm is dissolved, when the dissolved firm had been retained to handle the matters on an hourly basis?

The answer to that question is "none," unless the Court is willing to accept two mistaken propositions, each of which the defendants "truly contested . . . on a factual record" in the bankruptcy case:

1. California partnership law grants a dissolved law firm that no longer can provide legal services an enforceable "property interest" in the future profits from hourly matters that were pending at the firm

requires an *ex ante* valuation of the transferred property. *See In re JTS Corp.*, 617 F.3d 1102, 1109 (9th Cir. 2010).

¹⁶ *Alliance*, 22 Cal. 4th at 362.

when it dissolved and that the clients then transferred to firms capable of working on those matters.

2. This property interest has the necessary attributes to become the subject of a constructively fraudulent transfer under 11 U.S.C. § 548(a)(1)(B). In other words, the proposed property interest must be capable of being (a) "transferred" by a law firm to its individual partners, without the consent of the clients, by means of a *Jewel* waiver between partners and (b) assigned a non-speculative monetary value *ex* ante—i.e., as of the time of transfer and not in hindsight.

A decision recognizing some other type of property interest could not dispose of the issues "truly contested by the parties on a factual record" in the federal bankruptcy case and would therefore be purely advisory and improper. For example, an abstract "interest" that did not qualify as a "property" interest would not be relevant, and an opinion recognizing its existence would be advisory. ¹⁷ So would an opinion recognizing the existence of a "property interest" whose value could be ascertained only in hindsight, months or years after the putatively fraudulent transfer occurred.

¹⁷ This Court deleted the word "property" from the Ninth Circuit's certified question. But 11 U.S.C. § 548(a)(1)(B) refers to "an interest of the debtor in *property*." Thus, the only relevant kind of interest here is a property interest.

As demonstrated below, California partnership law does not and should not recognize any property interest having these characteristics. Accordingly, the answer to the certified question is "none": Under California law, a dissolved law firm has no relevant property interest in hourly legal matters that were in progress but not completed at the time the law firm was dissolved.

B. California partnership law does not—and should not—grant a dissolved law firm an enforceable interest in receiving unearned compensation from an hourly matter that the client has taken to another firm.

Heller purports to find in California partnership law the authority, or at least the principles, that would permit a dissolved law firm to obtain a stream of income for years in return for doing no further work on an hourly matter for which it has been fully paid and that its former client has taken to another firm.

As the Ninth Circuit and this Court concluded when formulating and accepting the certified question, no controlling precedent recognizes such an interest; 18 and as demonstrated below, the proposed interest lacks support in the RUPA or in any relevant California

¹⁸ See CAL. RULES CT. r. 8.548(a) (stating that the Supreme Court may decide a certified question of California law "if," *inter alia*, "[t]here is no controlling precedent").

partnership case or principle. And that is as it should it be, because the proposed interest would pose a significant threat to client welfare.

1. Common sense as well as California law and policy support a nearly universal "no work, no pay principle."

It's common sense, it's basic math, and it's also a basic fact of life: Absent some special contractual or statutory entitlement, a service provider who agrees to be paid by the hour gets paid zero dollars for an hour in which he does zero work. As a corollary, the provider cannot then turn around and claim some sort of "property interest" in being paid for an hour of doing nothing.

That's the position in which Heller finds itself: It agreed to an hourly rate of compensation for working on a variety of matters; it

一般の一般の主義が過去を

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